
THE VIEW FROM 5 MILES UP   

 

ñBOMBS AWAY,ò shouted our pilot from the cockpit, and our plane gave a bouncing 

response as our load of six 500 pound bombs dropped through the open bomb-bay doors. 

As those 3000 pounds of lethal weapons sped toward their targets, I stood on the cat walk 

and watched, and my mind wandered back to the last time I had seen my brother, Ken.  I 

guess I thought of him at that moment because he was now a paratrooper jumping out of 

airplanes in the Pacific area, fighting the Japanese, while Iôm here, 5 miles up, flying over 

Europe, dropping bombs on Hitlerôs Germany.   

 

I could see the flashes of fire and smoke as our bombs hit their targets, and was glad I 

wasnôt close enough to see the destruction and the loss of life we might have caused. This 

was our first combat mission and we watched in horror as some of our buddies went 

down in flames around us. Immediately after dropping our bomb load, we did a 360 and 

high-tailed it out of there as fast as we could, while dodging through a barrage of  black 

smoke and flak on our way back to our base in England. Luck was with us that day. But I 

wondered how many times we could be that lucky? We were soon to find out!!!  

 

WHEN MY WAR BEGAN  

It was clear to me then, and itôs clear to me now, that it really isnôt your war until you get 

personally involved.  My war, and my view from 5 miles up began in the year of 1943 

when I was drafted into the service. I was 18 and right out of the June graduating class at 

Central High School in Paterson, NJ.  As a new recruit, not knowing what to expect, I 

was surprised when I was asked if I would prefer to be in the Army, Navy or Marines. 

(To my knowledge, none of my friends who were inducted were ever given that choice.) 

But, since I had been caught off guard, I blurted out, òI really donôt have a preference, so 

put me wherever you think I would be needed most.ò  ñOK,òsaid the burly Induction 

Sergeant, ñhe goes to the Army.ò If I had time to think about it, I really would have 

preferred the Air Corp, but that was not in the offing at the time. 

 
 

This is where it all began, when I was inducted into the service with this bunch of guys.  Thatôs  

                me standing, 7th from the right in the striped polo shirt that someone put my name on. 

  I always wondered how many of these guys survived the war? 
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My next surprise was that the first separation of recruits was by education.  ñHigh School 

graduates over here, College graduates in this line,ò barked the Sergeant. If you didnôt 

have at least a high school education, it was evident that you were a shoo-in to be a foot 

soldier. But with a high school or a college degree, you were automatically destined for 

ñgreater things.ò  It dawned on me then, that our parents were right when they tried to tell 

us how important schooling is.  Since my high school records showed that I had taken the 

Commercial Course and could type, they put me in the Insurance Dept. typing records, 

ñDamn, no action,ò I said to myself.  However, there was a good side to the 

assignmentéand that was that I was able to remain close to home at the induction center 

at Ft. Dix, New Jersey.  I probably could have stayed there for the duration of the war, 

who knows?  But, that was not for me, too static, I couldnôt see sitting and typing when I 

could be out there with all the other red-blooded Americans that were in the thick of the 

action.  Remember, I was 18 at the time.  What else would you expect from a youngster?  

I would certainly think differently today!  

 

 

 
These are my dog tags that the army issues to every GI so that you will be identified if anything happens to you. 

Iôll never forget the numbers, they are 42000324 which are ingrained in your mind from repetition.  I gave these 

tags to my daughter Laurie many years ago.  

 

Anyway, my chance soon came.  I saw an opportunity to get into the Army Air Corp. (as 

it was called at that time). I took what was called a color-blind eye test. It was a test to 

see if you could distinguish objects and numbers hidden amongst dots and splotches of 

colors, the object being that if you could distinguish the numbers in the colors, you most 

likely could easily spot camouflage from an airplane. Flunking on that one would 

eliminate you from taking further tests.  I passed that one easily. Next came the 

psychomotor tests, which were a series of tests of your physical motor skills, 

coordination and depth perception, which I also passed.  That meant I was eligible to be 

accepted into the Aviation Cadet Program.  However, I had to get three letters of 

recommendation from people, other than my parents, who knew me.  So, of course, at my 

age, the best bets for recommendations would be my school teachers. Which again 

indicated to me how important your schooling is. Thankfully, I received three great 

letters of recommendation from two teachers and a school principal. Now, I was on my 

way to becoming a Pilot, with a rank of 2
nd

 Lieutenant, if I made it through the Cadet 

Program. No more typing for me, no sir, it was off into the ñWild Blue Yonder.ò 

 

 ñSo, where do I go from here, and when would it happen?ò  In the army itôs always a 

waiting game.  As anyone who has been in the service will tell you, itôs always hurry up 

and wait. In the meantime, while still at Dix, and waiting for my shipping orders, I did 

something that I wouldnôt have the opportunity to do as a civilian. It involved the dances 

and shows to entertain the troops. They needed someone to sing, and I volunteered.  I had 
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sung with a number of choirs and choruses at many of the Paterson school auditorium 

programs and always enjoyed it. But this would be different, Iôd be singing solo in front 

of an audience of GIôs and their guests. I did get to sing with the band at some of the 

dances and was well received, as far as I could tell. Now I can appreciate what the 

performers and celebrities say when they comment about loving the spontaneous 

clapping and response from a live audience. It was very gratifying. That was probably the 

highlight of my stay at Dix, except for the time I came back from leave at home and came 

into the camp at Dix through the back way at night and almost got shot by the guard on 

duty.  Before I even saw him, he surprised me when he yelled ñwho goes thereò? Just like 

in the movies. When I didnôt answer right away, thinking he was kidding, he kept his rifle 

aimed right at me. At that point I figured, this guy is serious. He never lowered that rifle 

until I identified myself.  As you might figure, that was the last time I came in through 

the back of the tent area where we were staying. It was in through the front gate for me. 

The other plus for being at Dix was the ability to get home once in awhile to see my 

parents and the girl I was dating at the time. Genevieve Bogacz, was her name, a blue-

eyed blond, Polish girl who I called ñGinka.ò (the Polish name for Genevieve). We had 

dated a few times during my senior year in high school and she was my date for the 

graduation prom. We corresponded throughout my time in training and during my 

combat service overseas.    

 

CADET BASIC  

 

Finally my orders came through and I was shipped out to Cadet Basic Training at 

Buckley Field in Denver, Colorado.  The train ride to Denver was a welcome change and 

a great adventure to me. The only other time I had been out of the State of New Jersey 

was while I was still in high school, and after my brother was in the service. I went by 

train, by my self, to see him at Camp Polk in North Carolina. I had wanted to see him 

before he was to be shipped overseas, and before I went into the service. The feeling was 

that it might have been the last time we would ever see each other, God forbid. But we 

couldnôt help thinking that way at that time. No one ever knew if they would make it 

back when they went off to be shipped out to foreign lands The train was so crowded that 

I never even had a seat.during the whole trip.  I either stood or sat on my suitcase. Even 

so, it was a pleasant trip, I guess because of the fact that the war was on and everyone had 

to deal with the same travel restrictions and problems brought about by the war. It was a 

feeling of congeniality and cooperation.  

 

While I was down at my brotherôs camp, he won the soldier of the month contest, which 

gave him some time off.  We went into the local town for a week and stayed at the  

YMCA.  At the time, we were both into weightlifting and we entered a contest at the ñY.ò 
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This is the medal that I won 

for weightlifting.  

 

We both won first place medals in our weight classes. He was in a lighter weight class 

than me. It was a great week to remember.  It was in May and I couldnôt get over the 

beauty of the area. The Magnolia trees that lined the streets were in full bloom and itôs a 

vision I still retain to this day. I guess the reason I still remember it is because   

 it  was so different from where we lived, in the middle of the city of Paterson. .  
 The picture above shows me, left, with  

                                                               My brother , Ken, in his uniform.             
 

ON TO DENVER 

 

Getting back to my troop train ride to Denver, the most memorable thing during the trip 

was that as we approached the city, where the elevation is a mile high, some of the 

recruits developed nose bleeds which meant they couldnôt stand the high altitude.  The 

bleeders were automatically ñwashed outò of the Cadet Program.  You canôt fly an 

airplane if your going to have nose bleeds every time you fly. The plan in Denver was to 

go through a basic training course designed to put you into good physical shape and 

acquaint you with the rudiments of the Army methodology for two months and then to 

take courses in theory at the University of Denver.  

  

The day was overcast as we pulled into the base in Denver, and it was late in the evening.  

We did little more than draw our bedding, get assigned to barracks and drop into a deep 

sleep in bed.  The next morning was bright and shiny with no overcast, and I couldnôt 

believe my eyes when I looked out the window. We were at the foothills of the Rocky 

Mountains, and the view was absolutely gorgeous. I was looking up at snow covered 

mountain ranges that seemed .to never end while reaching up into the sky. Some of the 

peaks were over 14,000 ft.  It was an unbelievable sight to a city boy. Basic training as 

we did it in Denver would be ridiculously easy anywhere else, but in Denver, because of 

the high altitude, when you took 10 running steps you were puffing like you had run a 

mile. It was in that almost sterile, clean-air atmosphere (minus the smog that didnôt 

affect. the area until some 20 years or more later) that we started our basic training.  I had 

been in pretty good shape when I went into the service, having been a regular weightlifter 

and bodybuilder at the YMCA, and other gyms, so the basic training was no problem.  

Some of the guys, who were not in shape, had a real hard time of it. It was here that I 

earned my first medal qualifying as an Expert in rifle shooting.  Not too bad, I thought to 

myself, for a city guy who never had his own gun.  Besides the shooting and running 
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during basic training, we were kept on the go with marching and other menial tasks that 

the army digs up to keep you busy.  

 

I greatly enjoyed my time in Denver, especially when we were able to go on leave. 

Instead of playing cards, or rolling dice, as a lot of the guys liked to do, I was always 

curious to see the surrounding countryside.  I would get together with a few of my 

buddies, rent a car and go out exploring.  On one trip, we drove to the top of Pikeôs Peak, 

where the elevation is over 14, 000 ft.. When we reached the top, we were above the 

clouds. The cars we rented had a specially designed carburetor to cope with the lack of 

oxygen in the Denver mile high area.  The atmosphere in the area was surprisingly crisp 

and clear. From the steps on the court house building in downtown Denver, I could see 

Pikes Peak, which is 75 miles away. I couldnôt think of any place back home where I 

could see something that far away. Another interesting and spectacular drive was to the 

Red Rocks Amphitheatre, shown above, in the mountains way up above Denver.  

 
 
Picture on the left was taken near the Red Rock theatre, thatôs me 2nd from the right.  The shot on the right was  

Taken  near the top of Lookout Mountain by Buffalo Billôs grave where we visited his museum. Werenôt we the 

daredevils though  

 

We also visited a few of the well known parks, like Estes. Denver had a lot going for it, 

which included a big Zoo where I saw a Polar Bear for the first time.  

This is the Red Rock Amphitheatre 
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                          This picture was taken at the Denver Zoo on Sept. 30th, 1943.  Lto R:  

                                   Paul Minner, Me, Carmen Quelly, Jimmy Shough and Rasmussen.  

 

 It was so different and surprising to me every time I saw snow on the mountain tops in 

the summer and to learn that Army Ski Troopers were trained in that area in the summer 

time.  On one weekend pass, four of us rented a room at the downtown Denver Brown 

Hotel, which has quite a history, and is still there. I still remember, in the middle of the 

lobby area there hangs what I believe is probably the largest American Flag that was ever 

made. My buddies, were named  Smith, Brown and Blue and when I told the clerk that I 

was Roth, he said,  ñ How did you get mixed up in that group?ò  He evidently thought 

that all the other names were phonies. 

 

On another pass, we visited an honest to goodness gold mine where we could actually see 

the veins of gold.  When we asked the owner why they didnôt mine the gold, she said, 

that it would cost more at todayôs high prices for labor than it would be worth to dig it 

out, She had accidentally stumbled into this mine, that was at the rear of her property, and 

was now making money on it by allowing people like us to see it.  

 

The area was unique, I awoke one morning, looked out the window at the mountains and 

couldnôt believe my eyes.  There was a squadron of Piper Cub airplanes flying over the 

mountains, but they were flying backwards. Evidently there was a strong headwind that 

they were fighting, and they were being pushed back and losing the battle, it was like I 

had seen seagulls doing down at the shore. Another, almost daily phenomenon, was 

during our training out on the plains and in the field, there were wind twisters, not large 

enough to do any damage, that danced across the area picking up sand and debris while 

spiraling up into a column about 50 ft or more high. They were like miniature tornado 

twisters. .It was a sight to see, and one I would never see anywhere else.  

 

We didnôt get to town often, however, I did manage to go to a roller skating rink a few 

times.  I also met a pretty girl at the rink that I asked for a date. We went out a few times 

and I met her family. Still remember her name, it was Rita Payne. She found out from 

one of my buddies that I was somewhat of an artist, because I drew some of their portraits 

for them back in the barracks, so she asked me to draw one of her and her mother, which 

I did. However, Rita turned out to be one of my most embarrassing moments.  Here I was 

at age 18 and found out that she lied to me about her age, she was really 14.  You would 
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have to see her, to believe that she was only fourteen, she easily could have been 18, but I 

was mortified and totally embarrassed when the guys kidded me about being a ñcradle 

snatcher.ò The other wise crack was always, ñThose farm-grown, corn-eatôn gals develop 

fast out here, donôt they Hal?ò  

 

Getting back to our training, as a cadet we were also subjected to what I called, the daily 

brain-washing.  I guess they try to psych you up to perform your best.  We were 

reminded always that we were the ñcream of the crop,ò that we guys who had made it 

into cadets, were superior, mentally and physically, blah, blah, blah, they said.  Some 

guys believed it.  It always sounded to me like the same tactics that Hitlerôs officers 

probably used to convince their troops that they were supermen.  My brother, Ken, also 

told me that in the paratroopers, they played on your mind the same way, only what they 

told them was that they were the best and the toughest.  Then they would say, ñwhoôs the 

toughest guy in the barracks, and have them fight it out to prove it.ò  Crazy eh!!  

Anyway, I was only a few months into the Cadet basics when the whole program was 

dropped because they no longer needed as many pilots, co-pilots, navigators, etc.  That 

meant we were dropped out of cadets and overnight went from being the so-called 

ñcream of the crop,ò to the lowest of the low, dropping back to our original status as 

recruits and  privates.  

 

I was very disappointed, however, some of the other guys were devastated.  Some were 

17 years old and too young to be drafted , but they had their parents sign for them so that 

the Air Corp. would take them in at that age for flight training.  Now they were out of the 

cadet program but still in the army.  What a bummer! There was no getting out of the 

army at that point. Some of them were so disappointed that they cried.   

 

What next?  Well the Army has an answer for everything.  When we were tested for cadet 

training, we were also tested for alternative qualifications just in the event that for some 

reason we flunked out of  cadets.  So, based on your scores in the testing, you were 

assigned a secondary and tertiary possible job classification that you would fall into.  I 

qualified as a radio operator. It must have been all that music training and appreciation 

that gave me an ear for easily picking up the code rhythms.  Besides the singing 

experience, I had played the trumpet In the high school band for a short time.  

 

Now instead of cadet basic, while we were waiting to be shipped out to our next 

assignment, the army kept us busy by scheduling us for 12 or more hour shifts of (KP) 

Kitchen Police. Then when we werenôt on KP, we were loaded into trucks and driven out 

to the local farms to shovel cow or horse manure. What a revoltôn development.  How 

low can you go? We couldnôt wait to get shipped out. But once again while waiting, I got 

involved in a show that was being put on for the GIôs there. But it wasnôt to be singing 

this time. There was a guy in our barracks, named Bedox who had been a fire-eater in a 

carnival or circus and he had been recruited to do his stuff at the forthcoming show.   
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Bedox is the guy in the picture to the left ( cant remember his first name). Thatôs me, right , with Bedox in the 

middle picture he was the fire eat er I had mentioned.  In the shot to the right, we had rented bicycles. 

 

Bedox had seen me do some muscle control and asked me to do it at the show with him.  

So I did.  It was very interesting, especially when I did what was called a double 

perpendicular abdominal isolation, (termed the rope).  There were screams from the girls 

in the audience. That made my day. The show was just a one time thing, but it served to 

give me and Bedox recognition throughout the camp. However, when we were shipped 

out to our next assignment we didnôt necessarily go with the same group of guys, and I 

never saw Bedox again. The next stop was Radio School for me. .  

 

RADIO SCHOOL               (radioman shoulder patch) 

 

It was January of 1944 before we were shipped out to our respective secondary 

assignments.  Mine was at Radio School in Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Winterôs in South 

Dakota, are fierce and we went to school in sub-zero temperatures, at classes that started 

at 3 and 4 AM. Who ever heard of classes at that time in the morning. But there we were, 

a sight to see, all  bundled up against the cold, trudging from our barracks in the dark in 

snow almost up to our knees to go to school. We learned how to strip down and put back 

together the radio that we would be responsible for using in our assigned airplanes when 

we were in combat. We also, at the same time, learned the Morse Code, and were 

challenged every day to increase our speed on the mechanical code key for sending and 

writing out by hand those messages received. It was a matter of repetition and practice, to 

the point where you were almost saying di da dadit  in your sleep. We had to reach 25 

words a minute in order to graduate. If you reached 25 minutes, you could only take 

messages over that speed by using a typewriter. I still retain that knowledge to today.  

Every once in a while I catch myself spelling out words I see in Morse code The ironic 

thing about passing each speed was that if you concentrated too much you had a hard 

time getting past some speeds and you would get stuck there for a while. The key to 

passing a speed was to be relaxed. Even if you hadnôt slept well the night before, or if 

you had a few drinks in town, it would help you to pass the speed you were stuck on. We 

also had to be able to send and read Morse Code given to us by blinking lights at a speed 
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of around 12 words a minute.  This particular ability came in handy on one of our 

bombing missions, but thatôs another story Iôll talk about later.  

 

There wasnôt much doing in Sioux Falls in the winter, and we never did get much free 

time to go to town. However, when the weather broke and warmed up, we did get into 

town and found that the area was quite nice. With not much to do after school, I decided 

to try to stay in shape and began working out with the weights again at the gym that was 

available, It was there that I met Max Klein, who was about one of the best gymnasts that 

I had ever seen. 

 
Max Klein is shown in the photo on the left, and thatôs him doing the the handstand on 

me, right, and another buddy.  Next two pix  show me on left and Max on right. Thatôs 

me doing the handstand to the right.  

 

 

 

 
More pictures of me with a bunch of the Radio School guys. 

 

 

Max, who was from Los Angeles, was doing a lot of tumbling when I saw him.  He had 

never used the weights and asked me to teach him the rudiments.  I said, ñOK, but only if 

you teach me to do handsprings and tumbling.ò  He agreed, and we fast became buddies. 

I can still picture him one day when we were in town at a local swimming hole. There 

was a long grass approach to the water and he went head over heels, doing a series of 

handsprings for over 50 ft. and ended up diving into the water from the last handspring. It 

was like watching the gymnasts during the Olympics.  Max was a great guy, and I was 

sorry that I lost track of him when we left radio school.  
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One thing you could say about the Air Corp. was that it was much different than most of 

the other parts of the Army.  Most ground groups stayed together through all of their 

training and went overseas as a group when they were finished.  However, we moved 

around as individuals to our assignments and joined a new group each time we moved.  

For instance, only a few of the guys who were with me in Radio school were still with me 

when I moved on to the next assignment, which was a Gunnery School in Yuma, 

Arizona. Only one guy was still with me, almost from the time I went to Denver for 

Cadet basic, his name was Rogers Edgar, a name easy to remember because it sounds like 

youôre saying it backwards. Rogers was his first name. Most of the time he became listed 

as Edgar Rogers. But, Rogers became one of the most tragic stories I have to tell here, 

which Iôll relate later because Rogers also wound up in my bomb group in England.  

 

       This was my Radio School graduation picture 

 

GUNNERY SCHOOL 

 

Here I was, in the Air Corp. for almost a year, and never been in an airplane.  Now, at last 

we would get to fly during gunnery training. Off we went again on a troop train from 

Sioux Falls, South Dakota to Gunnery Training in Yuma, Arizona. Yuma is mostly a 

desert area that gets stifling hot, up to around 120 degrees, in the summertime. What a 

contrast to the frozen terrain we had come from in Sioux Falls.  Our gunnery training 

consisted of both practice on the ground and in the air.  On the ground we used shot guns 

and practiced shooting regular clay pigeons as they were launched into the air, just like a 

duck practice blind, or skeet shooting.. Then we graduated to shooting from the back of a 

moving truck while the gun was mounted on a swivel stand or tripod.  Thatôs pretty tricky 

when youôre limited to only moving the gun up or down or sideways and you donôt have 

the freedom of moving around to follow a target.  Surprisingly, I did well hitting 33 out 

of 50 clay pigeons from the moving truck. The closest anyone else came to that was 25. 

The experience was really germane to the situation when you got on the airplane and had 

a 50 caliber machine gun mounted on a tripod, which was exactly how it is in combat.  

 

After a week or so of shooting from the truck, we moved on to actual practice in flight.  

That was an experience.  Not only were we flying with open windows, with temperatures 

in the 90ôs and 100ôs. around 100 ft. off the ground, but the heat waves coming up from 

the desert, bounced the plane up and down while we were trying to shoot at targets.  The  

jouncing was like riding the shoot the shoots at a carnival, and not too many guys 
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survived it without tossing their cookies.  I never tossed mine, but came pretty close to it. 

.   

Next was actual practice in a plane at around 3000 ft. level, firing at a target that looked 

like a wind sock, dragged by another plane. It was similar to those we used to see around 

the Jersey shore with an airplane pulling an advertising sign behind it.  We used tracer 

bullets to determine where we hit and what corrections had to be made. Since I was a 

radio operator, I would not actually man a gun position unless one of the gunners got shot 

and was unable to function.  In that case, I would take over a gun during an attack.  I was 

trained to take over the upper turret gun position and my gunnery training was as 

thorough as that of the regular gunners.   

 

To me every new assignment was another new adventure.  Iôve always had a positive 

attitude and tried to enjoy each phase of the training. While in Yuma, we didnôt get to 

town more than twice and there wasnôt much to see in Yuma. We did spend one day in 

Tucson, which is a larger town. The desert terrain, was all new to me and a real contrast 

to the mountainous areas we had just come from. One thing I did love about it was to see 

the skies at night.  As Carl Sagan used to say, there were billions and billions of stars out 

there in the desert skiesémore than you could ever see in the city back home.  One night, 

to enjoy the spectacular view of the skies, one of my buddies, John Roberts, who was 

from Florida, and I, took our bunk beds out on the desert sand to sleep in the open. I 

always slept on the top bunk, and John was on the lower bunk. It turned out to be a 

mistake to sleep outside like that.  John was bitten by a scorpion.,and I was glad that I 

had slept on the top bunk where it was a little harder for creepy crawlers to reach. 

Needless to say, we never slept outside again.   

 

 
This is John Roberts 

 

Another incident still vivid in my mind, was when we had to report to PT  (physical 

training) each day.  Both John Roberts and I felt that we were in good shape and wanted a 

good workout instead of doing some arm-waving, as we called it.  So, when the Sergeant 

said, ñ Anyone who canôt swim can go to the swimming pool for instructions rather than 

taking PT,ò  John and I raised our hands, although we could swim.  That was great, for 

the next few weeks.  Then one day, the instructor caught both of us swimming and 

hollered over to us, ñare you two instructors?ò and we looked at each other, smiled and 

said yes.  From that day on we were instructors. Thatôs the kind of thing it takes to get 

along in the army.  Itôs a battle of the wits.  
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It seems that on every new assignment at a different base, when I hooked up with 

someone as my closest buddy, they were always physically fit and had trained in some 

way, either with weights, or gymnastics. It turned out that during a discussion with John 

Roberts, I had mentioned that I held the chinning bar record at my high school. I had 

done 19 perfect chins, holding the bar wide with the palms facing forward. Well, John 

held the record in his high school and challenged me to a contest.  I did my 19 again and 

John went on to do 23.  He told me that his record was 25.  I can believe it.  He beat me, 

but his chinning record would not be recognized in my school because he bounced up 

from the bottom each time. We had to do them slowly and without any bounce. But 

anyway, it was all in fun.  I enjoyed having someone to compete with.  

 

I had finished radio school and gunnery school, and had now been away from home for 

just around a year. I knew it was a year, because I remember being at my radio in an 

airplane flying over the desert and listening to a broadcast from overseas describing the 

action going on during D day, which was the code word for when the troops invaded  

Europe and stormed onto the beaches at Normandy.. It was June 6,1944, just about one 

year from the time that I had entered the service.  And it was here at Yuma that I earned 

my wings. 

 

 
 

It was a proud moment when I received my wings 

 

BACK EAST FOR MORE INDOCTRINATION  

 

Having finished all the preliminary training, I thought I was now ready to join a crew and 

train together with them as a flight team.  However, there was more training to go 

through before it would happen. For the second time, I traveled across the country on a 

troop train, from Arizona to Westover Field in Massachusetts. The most memorable part 

of the trip, as I tell the story, is that ñ I spent a week in El Paso, Texas, one nightò,  and 

the explanation for that is that we arrived in El Paso, coming from Yuma, Arizona, late in 

the evening.  Since we couldnôt get off the troop train, we went to bed fairly early and the 

train continued to move all night long.  I know, because I donôt sleep too well on trains.  

Came the dawn, I looked out to see where we were after traveling all night, and 

surpriseé we were still in El Paso.  What Happened??  Well, they kept us moving, but 

onto sidings where we wouldnôt be in the way for the commercial traffic and freight 

trains that had to go through that area.  So, they kept jockeying us back and forth and out 

of the way.  Was that any way to run a railroad?  Anyhow, we continued the next day and 

moved through Texas and on to our East Coast destination. in Springfield Massachusetts.   
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The time at Springfield, near Holyoke, Mass. was spent mainly on reviewing what we 

had already learned, in order to prepare us for meeting and working with our appointed 

crew.  We stayed there, at Westover Field, for about a two month period. I had one 

experience there that Iôll never forget.  As part of our training, we were taken into a 

pressure chamber, where we were exposed to a simulation of what it will be like in our 

airplane when we reach a height of over 10,000 ft.  We were given oxygen masks that 

were hooked up to an oxygen supply. These were to be put on after they exhausted the 

oxygen from the chamber and we were at the 10, 000 ft. level.  Then the instructor asked 

for a volunteer to take the mask off when we reached around 14,000 ft.  I volunteered.  I 

removed my oxygen mask while everyone else kept theirs on.  He then gave me a pad 

and pen and asked me to write Mary had a little Lamb, as many times as I could while the 

oxygen continued to be taken out of the chamber.  I started writing and after about the 

third time, could still write but my writing was getting bigger and bigger ñMARY HAD 

A LITTLE LAMB.ò  I was aware that my writing was getting bigger but I couldnôt 

control my hand to write any better. Then the instructor popped the oxygen mask back on 

to my face, and all of a sudden it was like I had been in a dark room and the lights went 

on.  I had been slowly passing out from lack of oxygen and never even realized it. What a 

way to go, I thought. The lesson here was that it could happen to you while on a mission, 

so take care of your masks and equipment and make sure that you have your mask on 

properly during the high altitude bombing missions.   

 

The duty at Westover was not too bad, we had more time off than we ever had at any of 

the other bases, and we were allowed to go to town in the evening if we wanted to. A few 

of us went into town one evening and wound up going to a USO club where I met a very 

nice girl named Rhoda Bennett.  I saw her a few times after that and even visited with her 

mother and father.  They were a very nice family, and all very musically inclined.  Her 

father played the violin and her mother and Rhoda both played the pianoé and I might 

add, very professionally.  I wrote to Rhoda a few times while I was overseas, and went to 

see her once when I got out of the service.  However, nothing further ever developed 

from the relationship. Time, distance and circumstances played a big part in our not 

getting together again.  She evidently was to visit New York City and had written to me 

asking me to meet her.  However, it was at a time when my mother was ill and I never 

saw the correspondence until about a month later. Iôm sure Rhoda thought that I stood her 

up, and we never got in touch again. I often wonder what happened to her, probably 

married and has six kids.  .   

 

Iôm a little foggy here about whether we pulled into Newark or New York.  However, the 

important thing was that it was close to home and I was given some time off before 

reporting to my next assignment. So, home I went on a 10 day leave.  It was a great 

feeling to go back home for the first time after being away for so long.  It was wonderful 

to get out and see some of the world, but itôs always a comfortable feeling to come back 

to everyone and everything that you were so familiar with almost from the time you can 

remember. As they say, ñthereôs no place like home.ò   
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ON TO MEET THE CREW  

 

Now it was time to meet the crew that I would train with before going overseas.  I  

traveled by train to Charleston, South Carolina.  Here I met the nineguys that I would 

spend the next few months with in RTU (replacement training unit)  We flew together on 

training and practice missions until we were ready for combat. Our pilot was Dave Allen, 

a tall, fair haired, good looking guy from the New England area. Then there was our co-

pilot, Waldo Blackmon, (Blackie), another good looking, smaller man, with dark hair, 

who was almost a Tyrone Power look alike.  He was from South Carolina. Jimmy 

Wehling was our Navigator, a slim well educated, sharp guy who appeared to be very 

shy. He was from Virginia?  The Bombardier was John Scolari, from the same area in 

New Jersey that I came from, that is, Paterson. His brother was a well known football 

player from Eastside High in Paterson. Our Engineer was Harold Sbrocco, a New York 

City guy, who was from a tough Italian neighborhood. He was a pleasant heavy set guy. 

Mind you, we were all kids at the time, ranging from 18 to 21 years of age for most of us, 

with one exception, who was 31. I was the Radio Operator/Gunner, which means that my 

MOS  (Military Occupation Specialty) was as the Radio Operator, but I was also trained 

in gunnery in case the upper turret gunner was injured or killed, I would take over his 

gun. The rest of the crew were gunners. Francis Sheehan, (he was the exception I 

mentioned).. He was our nose gunner, another New Yorker, who by the way was an ñold 

manò by our standards. Since he was 31,we wound up calling him Pops. Ross Vacarella 

was our tail gunner. He hailed from Alabama and came with a thick southern accent.  

Donald Stoakes,  one of our waist gunners was a tall gregarious Swede from 

Minneapolis.  Then there was Joseph Woods III, who was our other waist gunner who 

also doubled as our ball turret man. Woodie, as we called him was from West Virginia 

and about the quietest guy youôd ever meet, reminded me of a real back woods type, but 

ñyou can never tell a book by its cover, ò is a saying Iôve always heard and in Woodieôs 

case it turned out to be very true. Iôll get into that story a little further into these 

recollections.  
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Our first picture as a crew, taken in Charleston, SC where we                                                                                                            

started our RTU (Replacement Training Unit). Standing: Lto R:                           

            Ross Vacarella, Tail Gunner, Waldo Blackman, Co-pilot, Dave 

            Allen, Pilot, Jimmy Wehling, Navigator.  Kneeling, Lto R: Joseph 

            Woods, 3rd, Ball Turret Gunner, Francis Sheehan, Nose Gunner 

            Harold Sbrocco, Engineer, Hal, Radio Operator and Donald  

            Stoakes, Martin Overhead Gunner.      

 

 

PRACTICE, PRACTICE, PRACTICE  

 

As a new crew, it was now time to see how we functioned together. We were assigned to 

B-24ôs. We spent the next few months on take-offs, landings and flying formation 

practice.  At times flying down the East Coast all the way past Florida and over the 

Bahamas and back again. We functioned pretty well as a crew and got along very well 

also, which is what I suppose this practice was all about. Both Sbrocco and I got in a little 

stick time, flying the airplane, just to get familiar with it in case of an emergency. I donôt 

remember if any of the other crew members flew the co-pilot seat. It was a great 

experience.  Actually, I flew a plane before I ever drove a car.  I didnôt have a driverôs 

license when I went into the service, and here I was at the controls of a huge bomber.  As 

the kids today would say, ñCOOL.ò  I always enjoyed these flights, in particular I 

remember flying down the coast at night pretty close to Christmas. It was a brisk and 

sparkling clear evening and we could see all the Christmas colored lights hung in the 

streets, the trees, and on the houses throughout each town and village as we passed over 

them. It was like a Christmas Wonderland that stretched from South Carolina all the way 

to beyond Florida.  

 

However, as much as I enjoyed the flying practice, I wouldnôt  say that Charleston was 

one of my favorite places. Our time on the ground was not that interesting or thrilling. If 

you werenôt on the schedule to fly that day you had to go through the  regular marching, 

running and exercise routines. Ordinarily that didnôt bother me, however, the nights were 

freezing cold in South Carolina, and it was still cold when you went out on the drill field 

the next morning.. As a result you had to put on your heavy clothes and with a pack on 

your back, you trudged through the heavy fog created by the warm days and cold nights 

when the cold air hit the warm ground. By the time noon rolled around and the sun had 

burned through the fog you were wet with sweat.  Then if you dried your clothes off in 

the 80 to 90 degree weather and hung them in the closet, the humidity permeated through 

them and they were wet when you got up in the morning. So they were wet and 

uncomfortable to wear in the cold morning air. I caught a cold because of that situation, 

and couldnôt shake it all the time that we were there. 

 

I was getting apprehensive about this time.  Here we are finished with our RTU, all 

practiced out as a crew and ready to cross the big pond (Ocean) to join the battle either in 

Europe or the Pacific. At this point we had no idea where we would be heading. 

However, the Army sometimes gives you a clue by issuing clothes to you that are suitable 

for whichever climate youôll be going to.  Itôs not always something you can rely on, as 

we were soon to find out. But before we did we were given our orders to report to 
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Mitchell Field in New York to pick up our new airplane (B-24 Bomber) which we would 

fly as a crew to our assigned base overseas.  

 

RANK IS HARD TO COME BY  

 

Time out to talk about rank.  I havenôt mentioned what rank I had achieved since they 

dropped the Cadet program. I was now a Corporal, (two stripes). After completing radio 

and gunnery schools, the rank earned  used to be Sergeant, (three stripes), however they 

lowered it to Corporal. You were not supposed to fly combat with a rating lower than 

Sergeant.  However, I went overseas as a Corporal and flew at least 10 combat missions 

before getting any more stripes. Then within a two week period I was to receive three 

promotions right in a row.  I became a Sergeant, a Staff Sergeant and a Tech Sergeant 

(five stripes) and of course the pay went up with each promotion. 

 

 
As Technical Sergeants, Sbrocco, the Engineer, and I, as Radio Operator,  had reached 

the highest rank, we could go to in our respective positions on the crew. 

 

 With flight pay and overseas pay, I was making $215. a month. Doesnôt sound like 

much, but it was a lot of money at that time. It was a lot more than a private in the regular 

army made.  I believe when I first went into the service the pay for a private was $21. a 

month. But Iôm getting ahead of myself, and will get back to our time at Mitchell field in 

New York.  

 

FROM  58 YEAR OLD MEMORIES TO RECORDED FACTS  

 

Up to this point in this story I have been relying strictly on memories that I have tried to 

recall as accurately as I can.  Surprisingly, Iôve done pretty well. These are not things you 

dwell on every day after you leave the service and come home.  Youôre more interested at 

that time in getting on with your life where you left off.  However, now we get into the 

ñnitty gritty,ò  Itôs at the point where we, as a trained crew, having picked up our 

airplane, are getting ready to go overseas and enter into the fray.  From this point I tried 

to keep a diary of actual day-to-day activities and I still have that diary.  As it turned out , 

there were some periods, you can imagine, when I didnôt get much of a chance or have 

the time and inclination to keep an accurate record on a daily basis.  But, Iôll give it to 

you here as I recorded during our actual flight to England and the combat missions and 

other happeningS during our time overseas.  
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FAREWELLS AND OFF WE GO  

 

Here it is January of 1945, a new year and a new adventure.  We have all our new flying 

equipment and a new plane to fly across the pondé then weôre off to the wars. Our first 

leg should be a short one.  From Mitchell Field, New York up to Greenier Field, New 

Hampshire or Dow Field, Maine, according to the weather and landing instructions I, as 

the radio operator, receive from Greenier Control.  

 

Looking back toward New York, I canôt help thinking how lucky I was being able to get 

home so often before leaving, because I donôt have a clue as to what is in store for us. I 

had been home for New Yearôs eve, and had spent time with mom and dad and then spent 

the rest of the evening with Genevieve.  Enjoyed being home and reluctantly left to return 

to Mitchell Field two days later.  Our bombadier, John Scolari, who was also on leave, 

came to my house to make sure that I got back on time and did not get listed as AWOL  

(away without leave). Ironically, John Scolari never got to go overseas with us.  It was 

decided at that time that they didnôt need a bombardier on each plane. The new plan was 

to have two bombardiers on the lead plane during a mission and the rest of the group 

would drop their bombs on a smoke signal dropped by the lead plane bombardiers. So 

now our crew was nine instead of ten.  

 

Jan. 6
th
  1945éWe took off from Mitchell Field at 10:30 AM é I received instructions 

from Greenier Control to land at Dow Field, Bangor, Maine, which is where we wound 

up. Bangor at this time of the year is freezing cold. I wouldnôt dare step outside without 

gloves and helmet for fear of freezing my ears or hands off.  

 

We parked our plane, took only what we were wearing and took a bus back to operations. 

This is to be our last stop in the USA, and our P.O.E, (point of embarkation). It looks like 

we will take off tomorrow morning for Goose Bay, Labrador.  This northern route 

doesnôt appeal to me at all. It doesnôt make sense either, since we have been given 

equipment with jungle packs for a southern trip.  I guess this is just plain ñArmyò again. 

Or, itôs designed to throw the enemy off  by getting them to think we are going south 

when we are really going north?  Hey, ours is not to reason why, ours is but to do or die.  

 

Maine is a beautiful state and Iôm glad we could stop here.  Dow Field is really a soldiers 

paradise. Service is great;we have our beds already made up for us, as they always are for 

transient crews.  

 

Jan. 7
th
  Bad weather, doesnôt look like weôll be able to take off today.  We went down to 

the plane and ran-up the engines, to keep them from freezing.  Itôs so cold that we have to 

use pre-heaters on the engines for 20 minutes before starting them up. We then went 

down to the PX (post exchange), one of the best PXôs Iôve seen. This is also where we 

have our breakfast.  

 

Jan. 8
th
  We had a little generator trouble today, so we wonôt be able to leave yet. Iôm 

getting to like this place, but I really wish we could get underway to our ultimate 
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destination. We went skiing today, still on the base, and itôs the first time I was ever on 

skis.  Might be the last time, The snow was ice crusted and I went flying down the hill to 

land on my butt.  On the other hand, Dave is great on the skis, having been brought up in 

New England  and  had a lot of practice. Wish I was as good. Like I said, this is beautiful 

country, and weôd like to see the town but we canôt get off the base and are on the alert to 

leave at a minutes notice.  

 

Jan. 9
th
   Weather is still too bad for a take off.  Looks like weôll never get off. I went 

down to the gym again today and worked out with the weights.  What  a life, we donôt get 

up until 9 or 10 every morning, go down and pull the props thru or else run up the 

engines, make a general pre-flight of the ship and we are finished for the day. We either 

go skiing or write some letters. Itôs quite a contrast to the hurried and harried life weôve 

been used to in the Army. But we know it wonôt last too long, and it feels like the 

inevitable is just being delayed.  We are getting  more and more anxious to get moving 

and get it all over with.  

 

Jan 10
th
  Some of the other ships from Mitchell Field pulled in today.  ñRedò Toothill and 

John Schmuski came in and are now waiting, like us, to get on with the show.  There is a 

dance tonight.  Guess weôll go and see what some of the town belles look like. It should 

be a pleasant change. Back from the dance, had a nice time, boy, some of these girls are 

really beautiful, must be the frisky-brisky  air.  They are full of life and plenty eager too. 

Besides that, itôs getting monotonous hanging around, doing nothing.  

 

Jan 11 th We got a partial payment today. It will come in handy when we reach our 

destination. Just hung around and enjoyed the scenery today.  

 

Jan 12, 13  Nothing doing yet, but the weather seems to be clearing up 

 

Jan.14  Finally, a break in the weather, and we are off again on our way to Goose Bay, 

Labrador. Some how I hate to leave Bangor Maine, but Iôm also anxious to reach our 

base over there and get our missions in. Guess what?  I usually sleep with my wallet 

under my pillow and we left in such a hurry that I forgot to take it with me.  So, as we 

were taking off I radioed back to Bangor and told them what barracks I was in and the 

bunk I slept in and asked them to get my wallet and send it to me in England.  Who 

knows if it will ever get there. I hope so, but Iôm not sure all my papers and money will 

be in it if it does. We shall see.  

 

GOOSE BAY, LAND OF ICE AND SNOW 

 

Coming in for a landing at Goose Bay reminded me of some of the Canadian Mounted 

movies I used to see.  There was not much else to see but ice and snow.  When we got 

settled, we asked where the mess hall was so that we could get something to eat.  ñOver 

there, someone pointed outò  ñOver where,ò we said. There was nothing where he was 

pointing but a big pile of snow.  As we got closer to it we could see that there was an 

opening or hole in the snow, and thatôs where we entered to go into the mess hall. Sitting 

outside of the mess hall, near the opening, were two of the most beautiful dogs I have 
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ever seen.  They were Alaskan Huskies. Once inside the mess hall, you could see that 

there were windows but the snow was piled so high, right up to the roof, that you 

couldnôt see outside. It was like you were living in an Igloo.  

 

I didnôt record how long we were at Goose Bay, but it wasnôt as long as we had been at 

Bangor Maine. However we did have some of the same problems.  We had to wait for a 

break in the weather before we could take-off.for England. My guess is that we were at 

Goose Bay for about a week when we finally got the word to go on from there. We were 

all very happy to be leaving, but our elation ended abruptly when in our hurry to leave we 

ran into a disaster that could have killed us before we ever got into combat.  

 

A FORCED CRASH LANDING  

 

In preparation for a long flight, we took on a full load of gas, around 2600 gallons. Now 

we were on the runway, which was covered with ice and snow, and the engines are all 

revved up and ready for take off  to put us on the way to Greenland, which was to be our 

next stop. We got the signal from the tower and we started to move down the runway 

picking up enough speed to take off. As we lifted off we were suddenly pushed somehow 

to the right and we hit a landing light with our landing wheels.  Talk about split second 

decisions,  Dave, our pilot and Harold Sbrocco, our engineer decided to go down instead 

of up. We were anywhere between 50 and 100ft. off the ground.  The quick decision was 

based on not knowing what damage had been done to our wheels and under carriage. So, 

down we went, and the nose wheel collapsed as we slid along toward the end of the 

runway scooping up ice and snow as we went. Believe me, we were lucky that the 

runway was all ice and snow.  Had it not been, with a full gas load and sparks flying as it 

scraped along the concrete, we certainly would have been a flying bomb, and it would 

have exploded.  Thatôs certain because all the gas mains or lines were exposed right there 

in the bomb bay.  

 

As it turned out, we scooped up enough snow to block our passage out of the front 

section of the plane when we came to a stop.  However, the back of the plane was high in 

the air and the crew in the rear, dropped out of the emergency hatch onto the runway as 

we were still moving. Luckily, no one was hurt, but the first thought was to get out of that 

plane before it did explode. We at the front, me, Sbrocco, Dave, Blackie, Jim Wheling, 

the Navigator, and Sheehan the nose gunner, made our way out through the back hatch to 

see the rest of the crew running up to see if we were OK. We moved away from the ship, 

but luckily it didnôt explode, however it was totaled.  I did not find out until some 40 

years later what happened, and why we had crashed.  At a small reunion of some of the 

crew, Blackie, our Co-Pilot told us that a Canadian plane, sitting off to the left of the 

runway, about midway down, had started up its engines and because it was facing away 

from the runway, its prop wash had hit our plane and caused us to be pushed to the right 

as we lifted off.  If this is true, that nut could have killed us. Dave Allen, our pilot is not 

sure that Blackieôs version is correct. But anyway, the important thing is that we 

functioned pretty well as a crew through that problem and survived.  So, now what?  Here 

we are, a combat trained crew and no airplane to fly to England.  
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LEAVE IT TO THE ARMY  

 

 You might know it, the army solved our problem. They sent an Air Transport Command 

(ATC) airplane to pick us up and fly our crew direct to England.  If we had flown our 

own plane we were supposed to go from Goose Bay to Greenland, to Iceland and then to 

Scotland.  Now instead, we went to Iceland and direct to Prestwick, Scotland, then by 

train to a town or base called Stone.  And stone it was.  The barracks were made of stone, 

and in the January, cold and damp weather, the stone walls wept with condensation 

caused by the heat from the pot belly stoves as it hit the freezing stones. We only spent a 

few nights at Stone, however, I still remember the experience as the coldest place and 

barracks that I had ever slept in during my whole time in the service. Why would that be.  

Well to begin with, the beds had thin mattresses that came in three pieces, each piece 

being only approximately 3ft. square, they were called biscuits, because, I suppose, thatôs 

what they looked like.  You placed all three biscuits on the spring and then, since we had 

no sheets, you put your blankets on top of them. But when you got into bed, you then had 

cold air coming up from underneath and  between the biscuits.  Now, up until that time, I 

had never had the need to wear my ñlong-johnò underwear that we were issued.  

However, I decided it was cold enough here to give it a try.  So, I put them on and over 

them I wore my suntan shirt and pants, and also wore my army issue overcoat for the first 

time. Then I covered my head with the stocking like cap that we had.  And guess what, I 

climbed under the blankets and was still cold. .It was really because of the dampness that 

the cold went right through to our bones.  (B-rrrr).  We went from Stone, by train again, 

to Glasgow.  Although it was winter, I was impressed with the Scottish terrain with its 

rolling hills. It gave you a kind of a peaceful feeling despite all the turmoil going on 

around it. I would love to see it in the summertime.   

 

FINAL DESTINATION, BUNGAY  

 

From Glasgow, we went on to Liverpool and then to London and continued across 

country to our base in Bungay. I guess Iôm a dreamer or a romantic but all I could think 

of during our trek to our base was ñWow,ò here I am in England, a place to me, up till 

now, that had always been a place in a dream or in a book.  It was a place that no one else 

in my family had ever been to, nor would they ever get to see it. I wished they could see 

it with me, but under different circumstances.  I have no choice, but I'm always 

determined to see as much as I can and learn as much as I can about the places the army 

sends me to.  

 

Bungay was the name of our base in England. We were assigned to the 8
th
 Air Force.   

 
The base was situated  two miles South-West of the town of Bungay, Suffolk, East 

Anglia. It was northeast of London, toward the North Sea.  East Anglia contains the 

counties of Norfolk, Suffolk, Essex and Cambridgshire. Our airfield was also sometimes 

called Station 125 Flixton, and there was a Flixton Castle on the same property as the air 

field.  Iôd take a walk every once in a while just to admire the Castle and its grounds. 

There were three concrete runways at the airfield, one 2,000 yards long, one 1,520 yards 
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and a third that was 1,400 yards in length. There were two hangars, one on the Northern 

side and one on the Western side of the airfield. Also on the Western side were the 

domestic, technical and headquarters buildings. The place was a good size with plenty of 

activity.  We were the 705
th
 Bomb Squadron, 446

th
 Bomb Group of the 2

nd
 Air Division. 

Flying all B-24 Liberators. We were called the ñBungay Buckeroos,ò 

 

Iôm only quoting all the logistics and statistics to give an idea of the size of our particular 

group and to point out that during World War II this same region effectively became the 

worldôs largest airfield.  The USAAF and British Royal Air Force built more than 100 

active airfields, comparative in size and number of planes to ours, in that East Anglia 

region. The US 8
th
 Air Force occupied 58 of the 100 with an armada of B-17ôs and B-24 

heavy bombers, B-26 medium bombers and P-51, P-47 and P-38 fighters.  And another 

eleven 8
th
 Air Force bases lay in the neighboring Northamptonshire.  

 

SETTLING IN AT OUR HOME BASE  

 

Finally, having arrived at Bungay, we settled in and were assigned to our barracks. As 

usual, I opted for the top bunk which put me right by a window.  Sbrocco was in the bunk 

under me and the rest of the crew nearby.  Our pilot and the rest of the officers were 

billoted  in a separate area.  

 

No sooner had we gotten our assignments when I was called to the front office.  I 

couldnôt believe it, they handed me my wallet that I had left back in Bangor Maine.  

Someone there had gotten my radio message, went right back to the barracks, picked up 

my wallet and sent it along to me here with all my papers, pictures and money that had 

been in it. That restored my faith in the human race. I never did get a name to thank 

whoever it was that sent it, but I certainly appreciated it. 

 

 OUR FIRST COMBAT MISSION  

 

We had left Bangor Maine on January 14
th
 and with all the weather delays and further 

delay because of our crash landing, it took until today, the 22
nd

 of February, 1945 when 

we flew our first combat mission. I had gone into the service in June of 1943. It took one 

year and nine months of training and preparation to get us to this point.  In retrospect, all 

the delays might have saved our lives.  

 

Feb. 22:  Briefing was at 04:30 AM. Our first mission was to bomb a railroad roundhouse 

and marshalling yard at Northeim, Germany. It was a long flight covering a period of 

nine hours. Five Squadrons of the 20
th
 Wing flew on this mission that was later called one 

of the Wingôs most successful visual missions. Wouldnôt you know it; on our first 

mission, we did something never done before.  We flew over the target at 8,000 ft., 

making us like sitting ducks for the ground anti-aircraft guns.  Normally we would fly at 

20,000 ft.or higher. Our first mission was a humdinger.  An experienced pilot flew with 

us as co-pilot, which was the usual practice.  Our co-pilot, Blackie, flew the same mission 

with an experienced crew.  We also had an extra man with us on this flight.  He was 

flying on his last mission because he was the only man left from two other crews that he 
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had flown with. He was a nervous wreck. We were approaching the bomb run and we had  

opened the bomb bay doors, ready to release the bombs, but then from the view in the 

cockpit we saw that a plane from our group had drifted to the left and was directly over 

us with its bomb bay doors open and ready to drop its bombs right on us. Our pilot took 

quick evasive action and at the same time the wayward plane above went back into its 

normal position before the bombs were dropped.  Lucky for us. We thought our first 

mission was going to be our last. And, it was a sight to see at that moment., the extra man 

we had aboard was really terrified and was on his knees praying when he saw that plane 

ready to drop, feeling that this really was to be his last mission. I didnôt blame him.  He 

had been through a lot.  

 

Having survived that near catastrophy, we were now on the bomb run. The target was 

visual and I could see it through the bomb bay door opening. We dropped our full bomb 

load as we came over the lead crewôs smoke marker.  They landed squarely on that 

roundhouse and blasted it to bits. The flashes of bombs exploding and smoke were plain. 

At that altitude we could actually hear the explosions. I was glad that we were that high 

up so that we couldnôt really see close-up the destruction and lives that were involved, 

like the foot soldiers do.  We were lucky, there was very little flak thrown up at us and it 

wasnôt very thick. We had P-51 Mustang fighter protection.  I donôt know how many of 

our planes were hit. On our way back we met the RAF (Royal Air Force) going in. They 

were doing the nightime raids, and we did our bombing in the daytime. In that way, we 

gave the enemy a constant pounding.  

 

 
 
Here we are, ready for combat at our plane, Shady Sadie at our base in Bungay, England.  Standing LtoR, Ross 

Vacarella, Francis Sheehan, Harold  Sbrocco, James Wood the 3rd, Donald Stoakes, and me.  Kneeling, Dave 

Allen, Jim Wheling and Waldo Blackmon  (Blacky).  

 

 

ONE DOWN AND 20 TO GO 

 

It was an awesome feeling to realize that we had survived our first mission. When youôre 

up there waiting to possibly get shot down, itôs not as glamorous as portrayed in the 



 23 

movies, believe me. Of course, at this point we didnôt know how many missions we 

would have to fly, but it did turn out to be 21 total. Actually we flew 24 missions, but 

because we returned with our full bomb load on the other three, we didnôt get credit for 

them.  Iôll describe here the ones that I took notes on in my diary.  However, we flew so 

many long and tedious missions, one after the other immediately following our first, that 

I didnôt always have the time nor the inclination to set it all down in detail. Most of our 

missions were 8 and 9 hours long.    

 

Feb. 23  Weôre on the schedule to fly again today.  We were awakened at 04:00 AM for 

the briefing where we were told that our group would lead the raid to bomb Osnabruck.  

Thirty two planes were involved, but because of bad weather we by-passed one of the 

proposed targets, the Gera marshalling yards and went on to bomb the town of 

Osnabruck.  Again,there was very little flak that was seen and no fighters came up. Only 

20 planes hit Osnabruck. One whole squadron had been reported off course and  low on 

gas so they dropped their bombs in an open area and had to land away from their home 

base.  Actually one of the planes had to land on the continent.  Many times there were 

problems of different kinds that interfered with a perfect mission. But, we didnôt hear 

about them until we returned to base and sweated in the rest of the group as they returned. 

It was a daily ritual to stand near the tower and count the number of planes that came 

back.  Also, to check out the damage to those that got hit.  

 

 Mission #3  Feb.25
th
:  

 

Briefing as usual at the ungodly hour of 0400 AM.  Target for the day is Afschaffenberg.  

We are to attack the Siebert tank assembly plant at Afschaffenberg in South Bavaria. We 

had good results, but I understand the lead Squadron had a premature release because of 

an electrical malfunction. That meant that most of the bombs hit the target in a very good 

pattern, but the ten planes in the lead dropped short of the target.  We encountered light 

flak and some of the planes on this mission had real problems. Four landed on the 

continent for various reasons and one crashed after his No.3 engine caught fire at around 

6,000 ft.  They said it crashed near a town called Raydon, near Ipswich while the group 

was forming.  

 

Feb. 26
th
:  We are not on the schedule to fly today,  However, the target is Berlin and 

Jimmy Wehling our navigator and Ross Vaccarella, our tail-gunner did go on the 

mission. Every once in a while they will pull members from other crews  to go out on 

missions when there is a shortage on the flying crews for one reason or another. So, of 

course we sweated out the return of our two crew members. The report was that 24 of our 

446
th
 planes  dropped over 3,000 tons  of high explosives and incendearie bombs on the 

German Capitol. The Flak was intense and seven planes had flak damage. Both Jimmy 

and Vacarella came back OK. This of course did not count as a mission for our crew.  
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Some of our crew and other crews, all suited up and ready for a mission, shown as we were loaded on a truck to 

go to our planes.  The tall guy in the middle is our pilot, Dave Allen, and four of our crew are in the upper left 

hand corner including LtoR: me, Vacarella, Blacky, and Sbrocco.  The only other one from our crew is the guy 

with the mustache at the extreme right, Sheehan.  

 

Feb. 27
th
  On the schedule again today, the target was a railroad marshalling yard at 

Halle.  We had ten-tenths cloud coverage at the target, which means we couldnôt see the 

results of our bombing.  Thirty of our planes went on this mission.  There was intense 

flak at the target, but it was fairly inaccurate because of the weather and our altitude. 

None of the planes got battle damage.  However, three planes landed on the continent 

because of fuel shortage, which sometimes happened.  

 

March 3
rd

   Hallelujah, we didnôt fly for three days. But this one turned out to be a real 

problem for our crew.  Our primary target was a Messerschmidt jet components 

manufacturing plant near Augsburg. Again there was 10/10ôs cloud coverage. But we had 

a problem and we jettisoned our M-17 bombs over enemy territory because of a runaway  

No.1 propeller, and our number 2 engine was leaking oil, while number 4 engine was 

smoking. We had to hightail it out of there and return to base alone, wondering all the 

way if we would make it. We flew over the channel at a low level and that meant that we 

were in danger of the British shooting us down.  I turned on our IFF (identification friend 

or foe) and stood over the open bomb bay doors with my code lamp, giving the SOS 

signal to make sure that the British new we had an emergency.  We couldnôt make it to 

our base and landed at an RAF base.  As we landed, No. 3 engine conked out.  Whew, 

that was a close one.  

 

MAGDEBURGðA REAL NEMESIS  

 

March 2 ï Our Bomb Group, the 446
th
, led the 20

th
 Combat Wing and 2

nd
 Air Division on 

this mission to Magdeburg.  And the 446
th
 was the only Group that hit the primary target, 

which was the Rothensee synthetic oil plant. Twenty-nine of the planes dropped on the 

primary target.  The  weather plane reported 10/10s cloud coverage at the primary target 

and as a result, most of the other groups hit the secondary target in the center of the city.  

Flak was intense,very heavy and accurate.  We also encountered flak on the way back, by 

the so called ñcockeyed gunnerò at Zwolle, Holland.  This happened frequently on our 
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missions.  The accuracy never seemed to be very good, just annoying.  Thatôs how the 

nickname came about.  Good old American humor.  We also had good friendly fighter 

support. It was reported later that one of our 705
th
 groupôs planes lost an engine to flak 

several minutes before the bomb drop, but still dropped with the formation.  After bombs 

away, another engine that had been damaged failed entirely and he made a safety 

emergency landing in France, after further flak knocked out his hydraulic system.  

 

Mission # 7  March 3
rd

 ï We were on a roll and flying almost everyday.  This time we 

went back to Magdeberg, to again concentrate on hitting the Rothensee synthetic oil 

plant. We werenôt too thrilled about that because we knew of the heavy concentration of 

anti-aircraft guns there. Nineteen of our 446
th
 planes hit the target with an excellent 

pattern, raising clouds of flame and smoke.  There was a series of heavy explosions. Four 

jet-propelled German fighters, ME-262ôs flew through the formation from the eleven and 

twelve oôclock level, flying through firing 20mm cannon.  One of our planes was 

attacked by the German jets. Flak again was heavy and accurate.  

 

IôVE BEEN HIT !!!! 

 

There was a Thud,our ship was hit with flak, and as a number of pieces flew through our 

plane, I felt a sting on my right leg around the shin bone.  When I looked down, there was 

a tear in my flight suit pant leg, but I didnôt see any blood.  Rolling up my pant leg I 

could see a huge black and blue welt where I had felt the sting.  What happened was that 

a piece of steel from the flak penetrated the skin of our plane. It came through a wooden 

board, then through a piece of canvas and finally went through my flying pant suit leg. 

Luckily for me, by that time it was spent and slowed down enough just to give me a black 

and blue mark, and something to think about.  If it hadnôt hit all those barriers first, it 

would have taken part of my leg with it.  As it was, I found the piece of flak in my pant 

leg and had kept it for years as a souvenier. But as we moved a few times, I lost it. No 

one else on our crew was hit, however either Woody or Stoakes had a piece go through 

their helmet.  It was interesting to me that the piece of flak (metal) that hit me was not 

quite as big as the first joint of my thumb.  However, when it went through the skin of the 

ship it made a hole that measured between 6 and 9 inches in diameter.  Evidently the skin 

of the ship stretched as the flak hit it and then it broke open allowing the piece to go 

through. Iôll never forget our seventh mission over Magdeburg.        

 

During the raid, two planes from the 448
th
 group collided and four chutes were seen 

going down. Donôt know what happened from there.  But there was plenty of action 

during the raid including some strafing by our P-51ôs. 

 

ABOUT TIME FOR A BREA K 

 

March 14 --We had put in a lot of flying time and gone on a lot of missions since arriving 

in England and were about due for a little R&R (rest and relaxation) or at least a change 

of place and pace.  I guess the higher echelon thought so too. We were able to get a two 

day pass, to go London.   
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This was the England I had always read about, and we really tried to see everything.  

Who knew whether weôd ever be able to get back here again.  We visited Buckingham 

Palace,  Westminster Abbey, the Tower of London, Waterloo Bridge, Parliament and 10 

Downing St. (Churchillôs home ).  While there we saw Anthony Eden.  We stayed at the 

Hans Crescent Red Cross dormitory.  

 

We wound up going to the Paramount Dance Hall.  I danced a little and met a nice girl, 

named Nicki Rogs.  I walked her home, and as I stood outside of her house with her one 

of the German buzz bombs landed a block away and rocked the house we were leaning 

on.  

 
Hereôs a picture of Buzz Bomb caught in action, 

on its way down,  over London. 

 

Interesting note, Nicki said she was originally from Chicago.  Would you believe, you go 

to England to meet a girl from Chicago. 

 

March 15 ï Not much doing today, we are still in London.  I went around trying to find 

some weights to buy and bring back to our barracks in Flixton and have around for 

getting some workouts. No luck, couldnôt locate any.  I guess all the iron was being used 

for defense purposes. At night we went down to Picadilly Circus, which is an area in the 

middle of the business section of London, very similar to Times Square in New York.  

We had heard that it really was some kind of circus, but not the kind you would expect. It 

was the gathering spot for the local prostitutes, a place where they gathered to proposition 

the soldiers. Really disgusting,  

 

Itôs a shame, some of these girls were really beautiful, and they will spend the night with 

you for 6 pounds, $24.00 and theyôll even throw in a breakfast. Itôs the way they make a 

living.  You loose all respect for women when you see them like that. Of course we had 

to have a little bit of American humor, Sbrocco asked one of them if she would take care 

of all of us from our crew for the $24. (Only kidding of course) and she was mortifiedéI 

wonôt repeat here what she said, but it wasnôt very nice.  

 

March 16 ï We were awakened this morning by two beautiful English girls. They came 

right into our room around 10 AM  and wanted to make our beds for us. They left and we 

got up, got dressed and went out to the Rainbow Café to eat.  It was considered about the 

best restaurant in London at that time. We had Swiss Steaks, which were not too plentiful 

then.  

I went to a local store to buy some pens and ink for drawing.  
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We then took the 4:05 train to Norwich, ate there in town and caught the Liberty run back 

to Bungay. 

 

March 17 ï St. Patrickôs day, my brother Kenôs birthday.  We didnôt fly today, much to 

my surprise.  I caught up on some of my mail. Went down to the gym and worked out.  

 

March 18 ï We didnôt fly again today, but they woke our tail gunner Vacarella- and he 

flew  with another crew to bomb Berlin, ñBig Bò they called it.  

 

We spent the time cleaning our guns in the afternoon and I got three hours of code 

practice in.  

 

We sweated Vac in- he made it OK. Jimmy, our navigator was also on that raid, that 

makes twelve missions for them.  

 

We hit a milestone today, and were awarded our air medals. Weôre on the schedule to fly 

tomorrow.  And so to bed.  

 

March ï19  Baumenheim was the target today.  We took on 2700 gallons of fuel. It was a 

nine hour mission all the way into southern Germany.  We had two squadrons consisting 

of 31 planes. The target was visual. We carried incendiary bombs and attacked the jet 

fighter components factory at Baumenheim with good results. It was a shambles of 

burned and ruined buildings by the time we left. Not much flak and no planes were lost. 

This was our twelfth mission. That gives us one cluster for our Air Medal.  

 

 March 20
th

 ï Hemmingstedt or Heide ïthe CQ (Charge of Quarters Officer) woke me 

this morning and told me to be at operations at 8:30 to fly a practice mission.  I got there 

on schedule but the ship wasnôt ready. I was told that I would be called when it was 

ready. They called me at 1:00 PM , but I never did fly the practice mission.  Instead,  they 

called me away from the practice mission to fly a combat mission.  The target was an oil 

refinery at Hemminstedt which is near Heide up around Kiel on the Jutland Peninsula 

below Denmark. Our 446
th
 led the 20

th
 Wing. The target was visual and we really 

knocked hell out of itéflames and black smoke could be seen for miles. We had a 2500 

gas load and dropped GP bombs. The flak wasnôt very accurate, but we saw one of our 

ships get a direct hit and the ship exploded. No chutes were seen. The trip was 6 hours. 

This was #13.  

 

March 21
st
 -  Sbrocco and I were scheduled,  with Dave, Blacky and Jimmy (a skeleton 

crew) to slow-time F-Fox, she has three new engines. We were up at 10:35 AM, flew 

around till 12:30 and came down to eat lunch.  Meanwhile the mission had landed 

already, they had bombed an airfield. Something new, they had scheduled another 

mission for this afternoon.  We were surprised that we werenôt on it. Lucky I guess, the 

boys returning told us they had about 200 guns shooting at them at the target area and the 

flak was heavier than they had seen in a long time.  They hit a town called Essen 

We flew F-Fox again this afternoon and landed twice at a B-17 field. 

 



 28 

Weôre on the schedule again tomorrow. I managed to get some flying stick time in today, 

and also drove a jeep.  

 

March 22
nd

 ï What a rugged day- briefing was at 5:00 AM. The 20
th
 Wing went to 

western  Germany to an airfield at Kitzingen, located midway between Frankfurt and 

Nurnberg.  All eight squadrons had excellent hits. The flak was very thick, but we didnôt 

get hit. Again, we blasted that place to bits. I donôt see how they can take this pounding 

day after day. The enemy threw flak at us as we passed over the battle lines in the Ruhr 

Valley. One Squadron really had it, they ran right into the heavy flak. Prop wash was also 

really rough today. Weôre on the schedule to fly again tomorrow. Weôre really going gun-

ho almost every day now.  Today was Our 14
th
 mission.  

 

March 23
rd

 ï Munster -  Twenty planes attacked the Munster marshalling yards today.  

Luck was with us on this one. It was a short mission, only 5 hours. We carried 2300 

gallons of gas an incendiary bombs were the order of the day. We hit a marshalling yard 

and they nearly hit us. The flak was very heavy and the target was visual, which always 

means, but so were we.  

 

Five of our ships were shot down, we saw two of them.  One exploded and the other went 

down burning.  We saw four parachutes, then we got out of that target area as fast as we 

could.  I didnôt like carrying those 12 500 pound incinderary bombs and was very glad 

when they left our ship. This was a rough mission with a rough target.  I hope we donôt 

get many more like it.  It was just like the 7
th
 mission when I got hit at Magdeburg. 

(Munster I donôt like.)  This was our 15
th
 mission.  

 

Mar ch 24
th

 -  We didnôt fly today- The mission that did go out had a real rough time, 

Grossmanôs crew was one of them.  Today was the opening of a big new front and you 

wouldnôt believe the amount of every type of combat unit involved.  The sky was full of  

planes carrying paratroopers, gliders, the R.A.F (Royal Air Force) and our bombers. The 

paratroopers were flown in behind the front lines and the planes went in at about 150 ft. 

off the ground dropping supplies to the troops at Wessel.  Going in at that level made the 

planes subsceptible to anything from rifle fire to pistols.  Gistôs crew got hit and one 

gunner on his crew was killed. He got hit in the head by a 20mm shell.  The new crew 

that came in with us was also shot down.  No report was heard from them so far. Their #2 

engine was on fire and no one saw where they went down.  

 

Spent the afternoon in the movies, ñTo Have and Have Not.ò  Lauren Bacall and 

Humphrey Bogart.  Sheôs a new actress that was pretty good. It was a good movie.  

  

March 25
th

 ï Stand down today, which means no one from our group flew. We heard on 

the newscasts that yesterdayôs invasion was a great success.  

 

 We went out to the ship this morning and cleaned guns. As radio operator, I donôt have a 

specific assigned gun.  However, I usually go out and help. There is a rumor going 

around that this group is going back to the U.S.A. We went thru a processing this 

afternoon. Spent most of this night writing letters. Then retired pretty early because we 
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are scheduled to fly tomorrow morning. Itôs raining though which could mean a stand 

down again. We shall see. I didnôt get any mail at all today, hope I get some tomorrow.  

There was no new report on Beasleyôs crew, so far they are reported as M.I.A (missing in 

action) They are the crew I previously mentioned that came in at the same time that we 

did, and they were also in our barracks. It was weird to see their empty bunks every day.  

 

March 26
th

 ï As I suspected, since it is raining cats and dogs, we had another stand 

down today.  We were told to standby for a practice mission but it never happened.  We 

didnôt fly at all.  

I wrapped my air medal and wrote some letters, thatôs about all I accomplished. There is 

a card game going on the far corner of the barracks.  I never play, the only gambling I did 

once in a great while was when they had a crap game (dice) going. Never won though.  

 

There was a report on Beasley today. They crash landed in friendly territory and the 

Navigator was killed and the Pilot and Co-pilot were hurt.  We didnôt hear anything 

further about the rest of the crew.  

 

We are on the schedule to fly again tomorrow.  

 

March 27
th

 ï This is getting monotonous, the mission was scratched again today.  It was 

scrubbed at the last minute. But that always means that we went thru all the motions, the 

briefing, pre-flighting the airplane, putting all your flight gear on and then they scrub it. 

Oh, well, on the brighter side, I guess I can count on not getting shot or killed today.  

 

We reported to lead crew operations today to take a bunch of tests on Chemical warfare, 

ditching the aircraft, radio engineering, and flying control.  

 

Felt really bad about the latest report on Beasleyôs crew, seems only one man came out 

alive, the nose gunner.  

 

Weôre on the schedule again tomorrow.  

 

March 29 ï  Still standing down, donôt know why today since the weather looks good. 

Not much doing so I caught up on my mail.  

 

Evidently the last reports on Beasleyôs crew were not accurate.  Two more of his crew 

showed up today, the radio operator (Brown) and the engineer.  Brownie bailed out over 

the Rhine river and had to use his Mae West for contact.  He wasnôt hurt. But he doesnôt 

know what happened to Beasley or the co-pilot. They were still in the ship when he 

jumped.  

 

Looks like Iôve been selected to be C.Q (Charge of Quarters) tomorrow.  

March 30 ï Good Friday, as I sat in the C.Q. shack at 5:00AM, the phone rang and I was 

told who to wake up for the mission.  So, I went around and dragged them out of bed to 

fly. We had a treat today, fresh eggs and tomato juice. Then I had to wake the other 

fellows on the schedule for fly school, etc. at 7:30 AM.  
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Nothing happened until I came back from chow, Captain Roberts wanted me to fly with 

him  so we had to get someone to take my place as C.Q.  We took off at 2:00PM for 

Warton, north of Liverpool, an ATC base.  We took Stardust, (C-Charlie) up the and lefts 

it there. Thank god we got rid of that ship, it was as old as the hills.  

 

We had a good meal, then took off again for Bungay, We didnôt get back until 7:30. I 

went right to bed.  Flying combat tomorrow.  

 

March 31 -  Mission #16 Briefing was at 2:00 AM, I only had about two hours of sleep. 

We were gassed up with 2300 gallons, and carried G.P bombs.   

 

Our primary target was near the Steder area, where we were to bomb an ammunition 

dump between Hannover and Bremen.  However, because of the weather, we by passed 

the primary target and went on to Brunswick where we bombed the armament works. Our 

group lead the Wing of 31 planes. The primary target had nil guns aimed at us, however 

at Brunswick we must have had about 170 guns shooting at us. We saw one B-24 shot 

down and then we were attacked by bandits fighters).  Luckily we had our own fighter 

support and they chased the enemy planes off. These were German jet planes, and they 

made a few passes at us but our fighters chased them off.  

 

One crew bailed out over Holland, I donôt know what the problem was. Ironically, we got 

back to our base in time for lunch.  

 

I was all around man today during the mission, radio operator, bomb bay door opener and 

cameraman. I took about nineteen pictures during the bomb run and the Navigator took a 

fix on each one as I snapped them.  In that way we recorded the coordinates, but we had a 

lot of cloud coverage and I donôt know whether the pictures would be worth much.  

Never did find out.   

 

April 1
st
 -  April foolôs day. Nothing doing today, another stand down.  A time for 

reflecrion and catching up on my mail to mom and dad, Ken, Ginks and aunt Dot. Weôre 

on schedule for a mission again tomorrow  

 

April 2
nd

 ï This should have been our 17
th
 mission.  However, we flew L-Love today.  It 

was an over water mission to Denmark, over the North Sea.  After a six-hour mission we 

got the coast of Denmark and since the target was not visual at all we returned to base 

with our full bomb load.  This in itself could be tricky and disasterous on landings. The 

target had been an airfield.  So, this was called a Sortie and no mission credit was given.  

 

We are on the schedule again tomorrow.  

 

April 3
rd

 ï At 1:30 A.M. they woke us up for briefing.  At 2:30 A.M. we had fresh eggs 

for breakfast, a real treat for us instead of powdered eggs)  We were briefed to hit an 

airfield in or near Osnabruck that was heavily armed or protected.  We went out to our 

ship, Shady Sadie, and make our preflight inspection and were all set to go when they 
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called us back to briefing. There was to be a six and a half hour delay, so we went back 

and hit the sack.  At 9:45 A.M. we went again to briefing, and learned that the first 

mission was scrubbed and we were now to hit the same target we didnôt hit yesterday.  

Again we got out to the ship, cranked up the engines and were all read to taxi out of the 

dispersal area when we saw two flares shoot up from the tower. The mission was again 

scrubbed. Gets kind of frustrating after awhile.  Guess you have to look on the bright side 

and think, thatôs great, no one of our guys will get killed today.  

 

Our crew goes on pass tomorrow, so we will have a little R&R which we need.  Weôve 

been putting in a lot of missions very fast. 

 

April 4
th

 -  Got up at 10:00 A.M. this morning to go on our two day pass.  We are 

heading to Great Yarmouth, which is north of Lowestaft a small seaport town with many 

sailors.  Finally got my Staff Sgt. Stripes last night and sewed them on. Boy, Iôm getting 

up in the world (ha-ha). We left for Great Yarmouth at 2:00 P.M. First we had to hop on a 

truck and go to Bungay and then on to Lowenstaft from there on to Great Yarmouth.  

 

We got a hotel room at the Savoy Hotel where you get ñbed and breakfast.ò  It wasnôt bad 

at all. That night we went to a dance at a place called Minors.  It wasnôt so hot.  

 

April 5
th

 -  Woke up this morning to a knock on our door.  Stoakes, Woody and I stayed 

in the same room. Two English women came in and wanted to make our beds.  ñItôs time 

for breakfast,ò they said.  We ate and came back and talked with a nice little girl that 

worked there.  

 

We went down and ran into this old guy who told us he had been to the States, and we 

discussed the pros and cons between when he lived there and his life here in England. 

Very interesting.   

 

We came back and met Sbrocco, Sheehan and Vacarella and we all went out to eat.  

 

I thought the little English gal was nice, and asked her for a date to go dancing at a place 

called Goodes.  She said OK.  Met her at 7:30 P.M. and it was raining. Phyllis was her 

name and she really was a nice kid.  I think Iôll get back to Great Yarmouth again 

sometime, since she asked me to. 

 

April 6
th

 ï  I saw Phyllis this morning, she works in the hotel we were staying at.  I told 

her Iôd be around again if we got another pass.  

 

We looked around the town, and found there was a carnival that had just pulled in and 

was setting up. So, before leaving that night we went to the carnival and went on some of 

the rides and did some shooting.  I won a little rabbit for shooting. 

There were some little English kids there and we took them with us into the cars, the ones 

that bump and bang into each other. We got a real kick out of that, I think we acted more 

like little kids than they did.  It was a reminder of back home, I guess.  
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These kids all had a favorite question, ñany gum chum,ò and they all always ask you for 

money.  To cap off the day, we got back to Norwich and took the  bus into Bungay, and a 

taxi to the base.  

 

April 7
th

  -  Well itôs official, we did not get credit for our 17
th
 mission, because we never 

dropped our bomb load.  There was a mission today, that we missed going out on, and we 

might thank God that we did. Our group got hit pretty bad.  The guys in our barracks, in 

the next bed, were reported missing in action. It was the Lajoies crew and no one knows 

what happened to them. They took their clothes away to day, it was an eerie feeling, and 

then to have those empty bunks to look at. Their crew had only put in 7 missions. The 

group was hit by German jet fighter planes that flew thru the formation. Would you 

believe, our men shot down our own Commanding Officer during the raid. 

 

The group was hit by five ME-262ôs.  It was a mess.  The guys in our lead squadron shot 

down our CO Colonel Troy Crawford, who was flying observation in a Mosquito 

bomber.  He tried to get into the formation for protection.  When he started to climb from 

low left of the lead Squadron our gunners started shooting and his plane started to go 

down, with smoking engines.  Two parachutes were seen opened and on the way down.  

One of the two ME-262ôs that chased him into the formation were his and one blew up.  

. The group lost three planes that day. 

 

In the meantime, Dave, Blacky, Jimmy, Sbrocco and I went to Waddon today to pick up a 

ship, H-How, and fly it back to Bungay.  

 

We are on the schedule again tomorrow.  

 

April 8
th

 -  This then is to be our 17
th
 mission, and guess what.  The target is Roth. Itôs an 

airfield.  Imagine my surprise when in the briefing room they announced that the target 

for the day was an airfield near the town of Roth, 15 miles from Nurnberg.  We were 

briefed for no flak, but then they tell us that there are about 150 enemy aircraft in the 

area.  On the contrary, there was plenty of flak and enemy fighters in the air too.  Once 

more we lucked out, and didnôt get hit. However, it was a rough flight, we were all over 

the sky because we had a lousy leader. The mission was successful though, we dropped 

1,000 pound GPôs and 500 pound incendiary bombs into a 2,000 ft. circle for a 100% hit.  

 

We may be on the schedule again tomorrow, weôre not sure but we heard it may be a 

maximum effort.  

 

April 9
th

 -  No flying today for us. We had to report to the Base Utilities for detail. I got 

the rest of the day off and took advantage of the time to write some letters to home.  No 

word from Lajoies crew yet.  The Chaplain was in today to find out about them and to 

write to their families. 

There are always a lot of rumors flying around here and today there was some talk about 

not flying any more combat missions, but instead flying supplies to the front lines.  

Doesnôt sound possible to me.  I got my two weeks rations today since I had missed them 

last week. Havenôt received any mail in two days now.  
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April 10
th

 -  We slow-timed our ship Q-Queenie today for five and a half hours and I got 

into the co-pilotôs seat and flew the ship for about a half hour.  A little more practice and 

SIôll be able to fly that ship or at least keep it aloft and on course if I ever have to. 

Sbrocco got some stick time also.  

 

We had two passengers from the Infantry with us who just went along for the ride.  

 

Weôre on the schedule for tomorrow, so much for the rumors of no more combat 

missions.  

 

Three guys, the radio operator, navigator and tail gunner coming back from the mission 

today, bailed out at 3,000 fit as they got over our field because their controls were shot 

out. They had been carrying Frag bombs which blew up and their pilot landed the plane 

at another field after they had bailed out. He landed with two flat tires and the rudder 

controls shot out. They were lucky they could make it back.   

  

 April 11
th

 -  Today is a day Iôll never forget. My good friend and buddy, Rogers Edgar 

was killed today. Whatôs worst is that I saw it happen. We had just returned from a 

combat mission where we destroyed an airfield at Regensburg in Southern Germany. It 

was a real successful mission where we dropped 100% of our bombs from the group in a 

1000 ft. circle.  So we were all feeling pretty good about that.  We had flown back to the 

base and had already landed while some of the other returning planes were circling and 

preparing to land. As two planes approached the field, one came too close to the other 

and cut off the tail of the leading plane. Both planes went down and rammed straight into 

the ground and exploded.  Everyone on both crews was killed.  They didnôt have a chance 

in the world of survival, they were at an altitude of around 300 ft. when they collided.  I 

stood and watched, horrified.  What a way to go.  

 

I came into the Army with Roger, he was one of the nicest guys Iôve met in the service. 

We went into the Aviation Cadets Program together, and on to Radio School.  We lost 

track of each other after that until we got overseas and wound up on the same base.  

 

April 12
th

 ï Had to get up this morning at 3:00 AM to fly.  We were briefed for a 

marshalling yard at Eger, which is in Czechoslovakia.  This is the first time that 

Czechoslavakia was to be bombed.  

 

We got out to the ship Q-Queenie and made our pre-flight.  We had all our flying clothes 

on , when they scrubbed the mission.  It was confirmed by the shooting of double red 

flares from the tower. We came back to the barracks and went back to sleep until 12:00 

noon.  

 

Got up and took a shower, boy it was the first time in about a week that we had time to 

take a shower, was I ever crummy.  
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April 13
th

 -  Briefing was at 4:00 A.M. this morning. This evidently is to be a Special 

mission with no credit as a combat mission. We didnôt take off until around one oôclock 

and our bomb bays were closed in with wooden platforms.  We were flying in with no 

bomb load.  We landed in Belgium, 30 miles from Brussels on a fighter P-51 field.  It had 

once been a German airfield. I sat in one of those ack-ack gun torrets that they used to 

use to shoot at us and I was able to maneuver it around.  I also picked up a German 

20mm shell to keep for a souvenir and some Belgium money.  

 

The reason for the mission was to pick up some ground crew people that were stationed 

there.  We picked up ten of them with their baggage and flew them back to Watton,  

England .  Then we flew back to Flixton.  It was an interesting day and a diversion from 

the usual.  

 

April 14
th

  -  Had to get up early today even though we werenôt flying. The Colonel was 

making an inspection.  After youôve been in the army for awhile, you learn that an 

inspection only opens you up for problems, so we got out of the barracks so that we 

wouldnôt be around to answer foolish questions and criticisms that donôt amount to a hill 

of beans.  Common occurrences in the Army.  

 

Five days with no mail.  I wrote some letters this afternoon.  

 

The returning guys from the mission said it was something new again.  They took just a 

skeleton crew and bombed a small place in France.  

 

April 15
th

  -  Had exactly half an hour of sleep last night.  At 1:30 A.M. they got us up 

for briefing.  Something new again.  We hit a town called Rayon, a spot in southern 

France around Bordeaux.  There was reported to be 122,000 Germans holed up there with 

machine guns, barbed wire defenses and slit trenches. Our men couldnôt get them out   

So, we went in with gas jelly bombs, which are dangerous to carry.  We had a leak in one 

as we were on our way in, over the Channel, and since they are a fire hazard we 

jettisoned two of them into the Channel.  Then we caught up with the formation and went 

on to the target. Many of the other planes had problems with the bombs and we saw them 

being dropped all along the way.  When we did hit the target, it was what I called mass 

murder, it was pitiful.  I was awful glad I could view it from above rather than on the 

ground.  Anyone on the ground in that area was just roasted to death.  We could see 

nothing but fire, smoke and explosions. Since the area was near the coast, some of the 

bombs landed in the water and even the water was burning. If you didnôt get hit by the 

jelly or fire you would suffocate because all the oxygen was depleted from the area.  Not 

a burst of flak was thrown up at us. Our attack was preparatory to a breakthrough from 

the east an hour later by French ground forces. The mission, which was our 19
th
, was 

entirely successful.  

 

We are on the schedule again tomorrow.  

April 16
th

  -  Surprise, we had been scratched from the mission and we caught up on 

some of the sleep that we missed last night.  Then, I took a ride with Ryan and Willard 

over to the Flixton Castle.  What a beautiful spot, I couldnôt believe it could be so close to 
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our base.  In fact it was right on our base. This now is just like I had pictured England 

would be. Itôs the prettiest spot Iôve seen yet. It turned out to be a great and wonderful 

day.  

 

When I returned to the barracks, I learned that Sbrocco and I had been promoted to 

Technical Sergeant. Thatôs as high as we can go. I was now making $215. a month. Not 

too bad.  

 

Still no mail as yet.  

 

  

April 17
th

 -  This morning we were almost knocked out of bed by an enormous 

explosion.  It rocked the barracks something terrible.  We later found out that it was a B-

24 bomber from another field that blew up on take off.  Three or four guys survived, 

according to the reports we heard.  I donôt understand how they could have gotten out 

alive.  They were leaving on a mission and a fire in their bomb bay caused the bombs 

they were carrying to explode.  

 

Looks like we have another day off.  We went out to the airfield to have a crew picture 

taken while posing in front of Shady Sadie, the plane in which we flew most often.  Then 

we went to town on our bikes. We got to spend some time looking around the town of 

Bungay, and found it to have some pretty nice areas.  We also picked up our laundry in 

town.  

 

The weather has been great lately, we hope it stays that way for awhile. Weôre on the 

schedule to fly again tomorrow.  

 

April 18
th

  - Mission # 20 = Briefing was at 6:20 A.M. and low and behold, we had fresh 

eggs for breakfast, that was the cry and incentive as we were reluctantly dragged out of 

bed.  We took off at 9:20 A.M. with a bomb load of 10 ï 500 pound GPôs. We flew the ñ 

Wolf Patrol todayò called B-Baker. The target was a railroad marshalling yard at Passau 

in Western Czechoslovakia.  What a long haul.  It was a nine hour trip.  Luckily it turned 

out to be a milk-run, with no flak thrown at us and no fighters attacked.  I left the bomb 

bay doors open and watched our bomb load wham away at the target.  What a mess that 

place was when we left.  There were balloon barrages all over the coast on the way back. 

We also spotted a big column of black smoke billowing from the ocean.  It must have 

been a torpedoed tanker.  

 

April  19 & 20
th

 -  For some reason I have nothing recorded in my diary for these two 

days, and I certainly canôt remember what we did during that time off from more 

missions.  

 

April  21 -  The missions are getting fewer and further between, which is a little nice.  It 

gives us some time to do other things.  Got up pretty late today and didnôt do much until 

around noon when I got clearance from operations to get a pass to town.  Rode my bike 

to Bungay, then took a bus to Norwich, and then the train to Great Yarmouth where I 
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went to see Phyllis at the Savoy.  Didnôt do much but spent some time with her which 

was nice for a change.  Then on the return trip from Yarmouth to Norwich, I hitched a 

ride in a British jeep.  Nice guy who drove me there.  He told me that he makes 4 pounds 

a month, which is about $16. in our money.  And I make 51 pounds or $205. a month, 

what a difference. From Norwich, I caught the Liberty truck run back to Bungay.  

 

Found out that some of our crew had trouble with the MPôs  (Military Police) in town 

tonight. They were drunk and trying to ride my bike, with no lights, back to the barracks  

The MPôs confiscated my bike and I havenôt gotten it back yet. (I did get it back later) 

 

In the meantime, back at the airfield, an A-35 tow target plane had a problem and came in 

for a landing on its belly. They couldnôt get the landing gear down.  Reports are that 

everyone on board made it OK.  

 

April 22 -  I went out this morning to try out my weights that I had made with concrete 

that my buddy Zapper and I had snatched from a British building site nearby, We had 

poured the concrete into some large tin cans and fashioned a revolving bar with some 

junk iron bars we located.  Boy, I figure it weighs about 190 pounds or more. . I was the 

only one in the barracks who lifted it so far, thanks to my previous training. I think 

Zapper can do it though, if he really tries.  He looks to be pretty powerful. At least now 

we can workout and keep in shape.  

 

Important happening of the day.  Dave, our pilot, made 1
st
 Lieutenant today.   

 

April 23rd&24
th

  - Two more days unaccounted for in my diary.  

 

April 25
th

 -  Our 21
st
 mission was also the Groupôs last mission in the ETO.  We went to 

Salzburg in Austria where we bombed a bridge over the river Salzach with very good 

results. There was moderate but accurate amount of flak but none of our planes were lost 

or had battle damage.  

 

It was reported that on this same day, the RAF bombed Hitlerôs retreat at Berchtesgarden, 

as the ill-fated Nazi ólast standôin Bavaria crumbled while the Russians pounded Berlin to 

rubble.  

 

The End of the War in Europe 

 

VE-day was on May 8, 1945.  The long war in Europe, which began on the 3
rd

 of 

September 1939, and which the United States entered on the 7
th
 of December in 1941, 

was over. On the 6
th
 of May our group received its stand-down. The night of May 8 was a 

big one in the officerôs club and enlisted menôs pub, and flares went up and guns went off  

all over the base. There was dancing in the streets in Norwich, and even Bungayôs staid 

residents had a street celebration. Their pubs sold out their weekôs rations in one night.  

 

For a year and a half our 446
th
 Bombardment Group had engaged actively in the war in 

European Theatre of Operations. The Group had made 273 missions over Germany and 
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enemy occupied Europe between December 16
th
 1943 and April 25

th
 1945. During this 

period the Group dropped a total of 16.818.95 tons of bombs on enemy installations, 

losing 65 aircraft in action, with hundreds of men listed as casualties, killed, wounded or 

missing in action. They flew 7,259 effective sorties, and claimed 34 enemy aircraft 

destroyed, 11 probably destroyed and 8 damaged. 

 

The Group was ready now for ñtrolley runsò  over Germany to let air and ground men see 

the immense havoc wrought by air bombings on German cities. 

 

 
 
These were pictures we took on our trolley runs with the ground crews to show them the devistation they had 

helped to create in Germany.  This was the Rhine River area where all the bridges were down in the river.  

The picture below shows the remains of the church at Cologne.   

 

 
 

For most of the personnel of the Group and attached units, the ótrolley runô over Belgium, 

Holland and Germany in the early days of May was one of their most interesting 

experiences while in the ETO.  Flying at 1000 ft. or lower, they saw Brussels, Liege, 

Ostend, Ludwigshaven and Mannheim, Afschaffenburg, Frankfurt, went up the Rhine, 

flew over Bingen, Koblenz, Bonn, Cologne and Dusseldorf.  As we flew over each of 

these areas that were once the great cities of the Reich, you could see what our constant 

bombing had done. They were all reduced to huge areas of pulverized, rubble-strewn 

buildings, roads and bridges. We saw the twin towers of Cologneôs cathedral still 


